U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

Appeals of A+ Tutoring Service, Inc. and

Action Reading & Math, Inc. (on behalf of other private providers also)

Title I Complaints

DECISION OF THE ASSISTANT SECRETARY FOR

ELEMENTARY AND SECONDARY EDUCATION AND THE ASSISTANT DEPUTY SECRETARY FOR INNOVATION AND IMPROVEMENT

INTRODUCTION

Action Reading & Math, Inc. (filing on behalf of other private providers also) and A+ Tutoring Service, Inc. (Appellants) have appealed to this Department final decisions of the Pennsylvania Department of Education (PDE) dated April 9, 2004.  Appellants are approved providers of supplemental educational services (SES) under Title I of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (Title I) that serve students enrolled in the School District of Philadelphia (SDP).  They filed separate complaints on October 3 and November 5, 2003 and January 15, 2004, respectively, alleging various instances of noncompliance by SDP during the 2003-2004 school year in the provision of SES.  Dissatisfied with aspects of PDE’s final decision, each Appellant filed an appeal with the U.S. Department of Education under 34 C.F.R. §299.11.

Section 299.11(c) provides that a complainant may request the Secretary to review the final decision of a State educational agency, at the Secretary’s discretion.  On June 22, 2004, we notified A+ Tutoring that we would accept one issue for appeal:  whether SDP administered its SES program in an impartial manner that gave all approved providers an equal opportunity to market services and recruit students.  Similarly, on June 22, we notified Action Reading & Math that we would accept two issues for appeal:  whether SDP and Intermediate Unit #26 are legally distinct and separate entities for purposes of 34 C.F.R. § 200.47(b)(1)(i)(B), which prohibits SDP from being a provider of SES; and whether SDP’s “80/90 policy” complies with section 1116(e) of Title I.  We provided each party with the opportunity to file a brief with any supporting legal documents and relevant information or exhibits.  In addition, SDP filed a brief as Amicus Curiae.  The Department has thoroughly reviewed these materials and considered the arguments and evidence submitted by the Appellants, PDE, and SDP.  This decision is the Department’s final action on these appeals.

BACKGROUND

Under section 1116(e) of Title I, a local educational agency (LEA) must arrange for the provision of SES by an approved provider to eligible children in a school that has been identified for improvement for a second year, for corrective action, or for restructuring.  20 U.S.C. 6316(e)(1).  Eligible children are children from low-income families.  20 U.S.C. 6316(e)(12)(A).  SES are tutoring and other supplemental academic enrichment services that are in addition to instruction provided during the school day and are of high quality, research-based, and specifically designed to increase the academic achievement of eligible children on the academic assessments required under section 1111 of Title I and to enable those children to attain proficiency in meeting the State’s academic achievement standards.  20 U.S.C. 6316(e)(12)(C).  Each State must approve providers that have a demonstrated record of effectiveness and must maintain an updated list of approved providers across the State, by school district, from which parents of eligible children may select.  20 U.S.C. 6316(e)(4).  An LEA that a State has identified for improvement or corrective action may not be a provider.  34 C.F.R. §200.47(b)(1)(iv)(B).  If an approved provider is selected by a parent, an LEA must enter into an agreement with the provider that, among other things, states the specific achievement goals for the student, how the student’s progress will be measured, and a timetable for improving achievement; describes how the student’s parents and teachers will be regularly informed of the student’s progress; and contains provisions with respect to the making of payments to the provider by the LEA.  20 U.S.C. 6316(e)(3).  

DISCUSSION

We have accepted three issues on appeal.  Our decisions on these issues—and the reasons for our decisions—are set forth below.  

Issue 1:  Whether SDP administered its SES program in an impartial manner that gave all approved providers an equal opportunity to market services and recruit students.

In its original complaint, A+ Tutoring asserted that SDP did not administer its SES program in an impartial manner that gave all State-approved providers an equal opportunity to market services and recruit students.  Specifically, A+ Tutoring contended that it never received any formal notice of the deadline for parents’ applications; parents, particularly non-English-speaking parents, were not adequately informed of the existence of SES; parents were not given application forms in a timely manner, resulting in late applications that were not accepted, and many forms were pre-printed with Intermediate Unit #26 (IU #26) identified as the provider; and thus many students who wanted to obtain services from private providers were unable to enroll in time.  

In its final decision, PDE concluded that SDP had not violated the Title I statute or regulations.  Specifically, PDE concluded that SDP’s annual notification of SES services to parents, distributed in eight languages, contained the information required by the statute and regulations.  PDE also concluded that, because IU #26 was an approved provider, it could market its program by distributing forms with its name pre-printed as the provider, as did a number of other providers.  Finally, PDE concluded that SDP’s deadline was reasonable and consistent with the statute, regulations, and guidance.  However, PDE agreed that SDP did not include a clear application deadline in the information packet distributed to providers in September 2003.  Consequently, PDE recommended that SDP ensure that all important due dates are specified in information given to providers and, if those dates change, use a reliable, uniform method to convey the changes to all providers.  

On appeal, A+ Tutoring reiterated its claim that SDP did not administer its SES program in an impartial manner that gave all State-approved providers an equal opportunity to market services and recruit students.  Appellant specifically contested SDP’s statement that providers were allowed to market their programs by distributing application forms to parents.  Appellant also asserted that SDP violated the spirit, if not the letter, of the law regarding SES by favoring IU #26.     

Based on our review of the record before us, we affirm PDE’s final decision on this issue.  Section 1116(e) requires an LEA to arrange for the provision of SES by approved providers selected by parents of eligible children.  This requirement presumes that, in arranging for SES, an LEA will establish a process that affords parents sufficient time and information to make an informed decision.  We believe PDE properly concluded that SDP did not violate any explicit statutory or regulatory requirements in the manner in which it administered SES during 2003-2004.  The notice to parents contained the required statutory and regulatory elements, was translated into seven languages in addition to English, and was distributed to more than 100,000 parents on October 27, 2003.  Given the fact that 20 private providers submitted SES applications for 6807 students, SDP’s notice clearly reached both private providers and parents.  

Nevertheless, because SDP’s process required providers to submit parents’ SES applications, it was critical that providers know of any deadlines established by SDP.  Although SDP included a November 14, 2003 deadline in its notice to parents, there is no evidence it communicated that deadline to providers.  This was particularly important because SDP had used a rolling enrollment process during 2002-2003.  Moreover, there is no evidence that SDP communicated its extension of the original deadline to November 24 to either parents or providers in a reliable, uniform manner.  We affirm, therefore, PDE’s finding that SDP did not effectively notify providers of the deadline for submitting SES applications.  If SDP establishes a deadline for SES applications in any given year, it is imperative that SDP make the deadline clear both to parents and providers.  Moreover, if its deadline changes, SDP must use a reliable, uniform method to convey the change to parents and providers.      

Despite complying with the specific statutory and regulatory requirements concerning SES notice, SDP’s process lacked the appearance of fairness and impartiality.  In its October 27 notice to parents, SDP highlighted the fact that IU #26 was an SES provider no less than six times, while citing no other provider by name.  The cumulative effect of these references, which emphasized to parents the advantages of selecting IU #26 as their child’s SES provider, may have unfairly influenced or skewed the choices of parents in selecting SES providers.  In addition, although the time between the October 27 notice to parents and the ultimate deadline of November 24 may have been reasonable, we believe the original November 14 deadline would have afforded insufficient time for parents to make an informed choice among numerous available SES providers.      

We note that SDP reported it voluntarily took steps to resolve any perception of inequity during its implementation of SES in 2004-2005.  In June 2004, SDP convened a working group, including SDP staff, IU #26 staff, parent liaisons, and representatives of private SES providers.  Based on the group’s recommendation, SDP agreed to implement procedures to make its SES application and agreement available to private providers.  Moreover, SDP agreed to meet and work with private providers to ensure smooth implementation of SES.  

In an effort to ensure that SDP continues to improve its implementation of SES, we ask that PDE review SDP’s process for implementing SES during the 2004-2005 school year and provide us a summary of its findings and conclusions within forty-five days of the date of this decision.   

Issue 2:  Whether SDP and IU #26 are legally distinct and separate entities.

In its original complaint, Action Reading & Math asserted that SDP had a conflict of interest; because SDP was identified for improvement and therefore could not provide SES directly, it provided SES indirectly through IU #26.  Moreover, Appellant contended that IU #26, as an approved provider, had an unfair advantage over private providers with which it competed.  Appellant charged, for example, that IU #26 sent out letters advising parents to select it rather than a private provider, had custody of parent and student records unavailable to private providers, and had access to trade secrets of private providers.

In its final decision, PDE reiterated that IU #26 was an approved SES provider and, as such, had all the rights of any other provider to market and develop its program.  PDE concluded that SDP had informed parents of the difference between SES and its extended-day program and of the parents’ right to select a private provider.  PDE found no evidence that SDP provided different information to IU #26 than it provided to all other providers.  

On appeal, Appellant asserted that PDE adopted an illusory distinction between SDP and IU #26, thereby ignoring the fact that they are one in the same.  As a result, Appellant asserted that IU #26 cannot be a provider because SDP is identified as in need of improvement.

We affirm the PDE’s decision in part and reverse in part.  We agree with PDE that, under State law, an intermediate unit is a separate and distinct legal entity from a school district.  Compare 24 P.S. §§ 2-201 et seq. with 24 P.S. §§ 9-901 et seq.  See, e.g., Arnold v. BLaST Intermediate Unit 17, 843 F.2d 122 (3d Cir. 1988); Nichol v. ARIN Intermediate Unit 28, 268 F. Supp. 2d 536 (W.D. Pa. 2003); McCoy v. Lincoln Intermediate Unit No. 12, 391 A.2d 1119 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1978).  Moreover, intermediate units, as LEAs, are eligible SES providers.  Accordingly, it may be possible for IU #26 to operate as an SES provider separate and apart from SDP.  Under the facts before us, however, we find that PDE improperly approved IU #26 as an SES provider because it did not operate as a separate and distinct entity from SDP, which was identified for improvement during the 2003-2004 school year and thus was not eligible to provide SES.  

Therefore, we reverse PDE’s decision to approve IU #26 as an SES provider under its present arrangement.  We base our finding on the cumulative effect of the following facts.  IU #26’s application to be a provider identified “Philadelphia School District/Philadelphia Intermediate Unit 26” as the applicant.  The application proposed to offer SDP’s extended-day program as the SES program and presented the achievement results from SDP’s 2002-2003 extended-day program as its record of effectiveness.  See also Letter dated November 14, 2003 from Paul G. Vallas to Susan Wilhelm at 3 (“A proven record of success in 2002-2003, when 17,000 pupils who participated in the program improved their academic performance enough to move out of the bottom quartile on the TerraNova”).  In other words, IU #26 established its record of effectiveness based solely on SDP’s program, but at the same time sought to be treated as separate and apart from SDP for purposes of meeting the very same statutory requirements, as applied in the Title I regulations concerning districts in improvement.  IU #26’s application was signed by Patricia Knapper-Smith, Director of Title I Parent Support Programs for SDP.  She was also the person responsible for implementing SES for SDP as evidenced by her signing the letters inviting private providers to participate in SES.  The agreement required by section 1116(e)(3) of Title I between a provider and an LEA was signed by Paul G. Vallas as both Executive Director of IU #26 and Chief Executive Officer of SDP.  

Finally, by SDP’s own admission, IU #26 offered SES “on a fully-integrated basis with [SDP’s] existing Extended Day Program.  Students in these programs share[d] the same School District classrooms, teachers and educational programs.”  Letter dated March 18, 2004 from Wendy Beetlestone, Miles H. Shore, and Paul N. McCarthy to Renee Palakovic at 8.  See also Letter dated December 9, 2004 from Wendy Beetlestone to Lawrence White at 2 (“[T]he Intermediate Unit offers its supplemental educational services program on a fully-integrated basis with the School District’s Extended Day program.”).  SDP has asserted a number of logical reasons why it integrated the two programs:  SDP’s extended-day program was effective; integration avoided duplication of administrative staff, space, resources, and costs; and integration maximized limited resources.  Id. at 4.  We do not dispute that, under other circumstances, these reasons would be valid.  In this case, however, SDP is an LEA identified for improvement and cannot thus provide SES.  Because IU #26’s SES program is inextricably intertwined with SDP’s extended-day program, it fails for the same reason.  In other words, there is no functional distinction between IU #26 as an SES provider and SDP.

Because IU #26 is not providing SES as a separate and distinct entity from SDP, an ineligible provider of SES, IU #26 may not continue to provide SES to students under the present circumstances.  PDE must ensure that parents who signed up for the program offered by IU #26 are given the immediate option of selecting another SES provider and require IU #26 to cease offering its SES program as soon as possible, but no later than the end of the spring semester.  If IU #26 reapplies to provide SES as a truly separate and distinct entity, PDE must ensure that the program IU #26 would offer is, in fact, independent of SDP and any programs SDP is offering, so long as SDP remains an ineligible provider of SES.               

Issue 3:  Whether SDP’s “80/90 policy” complies with section 1116(e) of Title I.

In its original complaint, Action Reading & Math challenged SDP’s contractual timeline governing providers’ provision of SES.  During the 2003-2004 school year, SDP’s contract with SES providers contained a completion date of March 27, 2004.  SDP explained that the March 27 date was chosen to ensure that, if at all possible, all SES programs were completed prior to the administration of Pennsylvania’s State assessment required under section 1111 of Title I and the TerraNova administered by SDP in March 2004.  Following complaints by providers, SDP modified its policy to permit SES providers to continue services until the end of the school year as long as they completed at least 80 percent of their contracted instructional hours for 90 percent of their students prior to the administration of the standardized tests (the “80/90 policy”).  PDE concluded that SDP could not require a provider to stop services as early as March 27 but could implement its “80/90 policy,” which allows for SES to continue until the end of the school year if certain conditions are met.  

On appeal, Appellant asserted that the “80/90 policy” nullifies the opportunity of students to receive services until the last day of school because one child’s right to be served until the end of the school year is dependent upon other students’ attendance record prior to March 27.  

We affirm PDE’s conclusion that SDP’s “80/90 policy” does not violate section 1116(e) of Title I.  Section 1116(e)(8) of Title I states that an LEA must continue to provide SES to a child receiving those services until the end of the school year in which the services were first received.  We do not believe, however, that this provision sets up an absolute entitlement for each child to receive services until the last day of school.  Rather, it is a guarantee that, once a child begins to receive SES, the child is entitled to continue the course of those services until completion.  In other words, an LEA cannot start services and then terminate those services in favor of another child.  Moreover, as recognized in 34 C.F.R. §200.45(c)(3), the length of services may be constrained by the per-pupil amount of funds available.

We believe PDE properly balanced this statutory requirement with two other requirements.  First, the purpose of SES is set forth in section 1116(e)(12)(C):  supplemental educational services means tutoring and other supplemental academic enrichment services that are “specifically designed to increase the academic achievement of eligible children on the academic assessments required under section 1111 and attain proficiency meeting the State’s academic achievement standards.”  According to SDP’s reply, it created the “80/90 policy” to permit continuation of SES beyond March 27 while also providing incentives for providers to provide most of their services in time for SDP to reap the benefits as demonstrated by improved student achievement on the State’s assessments under section 1111.  Second, section 1116(e)(3)(A) requires an LEA to enter into an agreement with each provider in which the LEA, in consultation with parents and the provider, develops a “timetable for improving achievement” of the student receiving SES.  Given the specific purpose of SES and SDP’s authority to establish a timetable, we believe SDP was justified in establishing its “80/90 policy” and that PDE correctly concluded that SDP did not violate section 1116(e) in doing so.  We caution both PDE and SDP, however, that such a policy is only appropriate if services begin early in the school year so that each provider has sufficient opportunity to provide its full complement of services by the prescribed deadline.       

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, we conclude as follows:  With respect to Issue #1, PDE’s final decision that SDP did not violate any explicit statutory or regulatory requirements in the manner in which it administered SES during 2003-2004 is AFFIRMED.  Nevertheless, we believe that SDP’s process lacked the appearance of fairness and impartiality.  We hope that SDP’s voluntary efforts to improve its process for the 2004-2005 school year have allowed parents to make informed and unbiased choices regarding SES providers.  Accordingly, we request PDE to review SDP’s process for implementing SES during the 2004-2005 school year and submit the results of its review within 45 days of the date of this decision to the following address:

Darla Marburger

Deputy Assistant Secretary

Office of Elementary and Secondary Education

400 Maryland Avenue, S.W.

Washington, D.C. 20202

With respect to Issue #2, PDE’s decision is affirmed in part and reversed in part.  PDE’s decision that an intermediate unit is a separate and distinct legal entity from a school district and thus may be an SES provider is AFFIRMED.  However, PDE’s decision that IU #26 was a proper SES provider is REVERSED.  The facts on appeal demonstrate that PDE improperly approved IU #26 as an SES provider because it did not provide SES as a separate and distinct entity from SDP, which was identified for improvement during the 2003-2004 school year and thus was not eligible to provide SES.  Accordingly, IU #26 may not continue to provide SES to students under the present circumstances.  PDE is hereby ordered to ensure that parents who signed up for the program offered by IU #26 are given the immediate option of selecting another SES provider and to require IU #26 to cease offering its SES program as soon as possible, but no later than the end of the spring semester.  Finally, with respect to Issue #3, PDE’s final decision that SDP’s “80/90 policy” does not violate section 1116(e) of Title I is AFFIRMED, provided SES begin early in the school year so that each provider has sufficient opportunity to provide its full complement of services by the prescribed deadline.
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